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1    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Pursuant to Section 9-201(c) of

2 the Public Utilities Act and Section 200.850(b) of

3 the Commission's administrative rules, I now

4 convene oral argument before the Illinois Commerce

5 Commission in Docket Nos. 01-0705, 02-0067, and

6 02-0725 consolidated.

7          This is Nicor's performance-based

8 regulation program and reconciliation under rider

9 6, gas cost supply.

10          With me in Chicago are Commissioner

11 McCabe, Acting Commissioner Del Valle, and Acting

12 Commissioner Maye.  With us in Springfield is

13 Commissioner Colgan.  I'm Chairman Scott.

14          As the Commission noticed to the parties,

15 we have three topics for oral argument today and

16 they are as follows:  First, the appropriate

17 methodology for allocating refunds to customers;

18 second, the proposed adjustment for 2001 storage

19 withdrawals; and third, the proposed adjustment

20 for storage inventory carrying charges.

21          Oral argument in this case was noticed for

22 today, April 23rd, at 10:30 a.m. and all
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1 participants should have received both the notice

2 and schedule for today's oral argument.

3          As stated in our notice, in addition to

4 the topics already identified, the parties should

5 also be prepared to answer any questions regarding

6 the pertinent law.

7          There are six parties participating in

8 today's arguments.  The parties may divide their

9 allotted time between initial argument and

10 rebuttal, so please let us know before you begin if

11 you plan to reserve time for rebuttal.

12          In terms of the order of presentation, as

13 indicated in the agenda, we will start with Nicor

14 and follow with staff of the Illinois Commerce

15 Commission, then Retail Energy Supply Association

16 and Interstate Gas Supply, then the Citizens

17 Utility Board, then the Office of the Attorney

18 General.

19          We will use the same order for rebuttal

20 with Nicor also having the opportunity for

21 surrebuttal.

22          We have timely received exhibits from the
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1 Citizens Utility Board, the Office of the Attorney

2 General, and Nicor for use in today's oral

3 argument, so these items will be the only exhibits

4 which we will allow for today.

5          The timekeeper who will also be monitoring

6 the time in Chicago is Nicole sitting off to my

7 right.  You should be cognizant of your time usage.

8 And we will attempt to give the presenter a warning

9 one minute before the time is expired.  Again,

10 please let both the Commissioner and the timekeeper

11 know if you're reserving any time for rebuttal.

12          To keep things on schedule, your time

13 allotment is inclusive of Commission's questions

14 and any related answers, so please be judicious

15 with your time.

16          Turning now to oral argument, first we

17 will hear from Nicor through its attorneys John

18 Rooney and David Stahl.

19          Mr. Rooney and Mr. Stahl, you'll have

20 25 minutes for both your initial presentation,

21 rebuttal, and surrebuttal.  Would you like to

22 reserve your time, sir?
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1    MR. ROONEY:  Yes, Mr. Chairman -- excuse me.

2          Yes, Mr. Chairman, 15 minutes for

3 rebuttal.

4    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Very good.  Thank you.  You may

5 start when you're ready.

6    MR. ROONEY:  Mr. Chairman, Commissioners, good

7 morning.  My name is John Rooney, and along with

8 David Stahl, we're presenting argument on behalf of

9 the company today.

10            I will be addressing the storage

11 carrying charge issue and the refund methodology

12 issue.  Mr. Stahl will be addressing the 2001

13 storage cycling issue.

14          Now, the Commission approved an

15 alternative regulation program titled the gas cost

16 performance program.  That program established a

17 benchmark, and it's reflected on slide 1 of the

18 materials we provided.

19          That benchmark and the goal of that

20 benchmark was for the company to beat the

21 benchmark.  Why?  Because if the company beat the

22 benchmark, customers and the company shared savings
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1 equally.

2          The benchmark also served as a substitute

3 for traditional prudence reviews under normal

4 regulation.  Instead of looking at gas purchase

5 transactions on a one-for-one basis via a post-hoc

6 review, the benchmark served as the surrogate and

7 you compared the company's actual performance

8 against the benchmark.

9          Now, how did the company do during the

10 three years that the GCPP was in effect?  From 2000

11 through 2002 Nicor Gas's customers enjoyed the

12 lowest gas cost on average during that three-year

13 period.  And what's important about that, not one

14 party opposes that point.  That is a fact.

15            Now, you're likely to hear from the AG

16 and CUB counsel this morning some sensational

17 claims about what transpired 10, 12, 14 years ago.

18 Do not be distracted by those claims.  All they're

19 asking you to do is commit reversible error.  Why?

20 Because those claims are based on innuendo and

21 speculation, not the facts.

22            And why is that important?  Well, the
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1 Supreme Court has made clear that the Commission

2 orders must be based, and I quote, exclusively on

3 facts in the evidentiary record, and in this

4 regard, the AG's and CUB's positions fail.

5          In addition, these claims and assertions

6 you're going to hear about have nothing to do with

7 the three remaining issues, refund issues that are

8 involved in this case.  The storage carrying

9 storage charge issue deals with issues -- and this

10 is -- Commissioner Colgan, this is on slide 3, I

11 believe -- 4.

12          It involves issues that took place after

13 the GCPP concluded, and it involves 2003 actions in

14 their effort.  The DSS withdrawal issue, while not

15 an issue for argument today, involves one number or

16 another number.  The storage withdrawal issue in

17 2001, that deals with alleged disprudence of

18 decisions which Mr. Stahl will address.

19            In short, after ten years of presiding

20 over these cases, the ALJs' proposed order properly

21 applies the law and the facts related to the two

22 issues that you are -- wanted to hear oral argument
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1 about today, the storage carrying charge issue and

2 storage withdrawals.

3          Let me turn now to the storage withdrawal

4 issue.  The proposed order -- I'm sorry, the

5 storage carrying charge issue.

6          The proposed order properly rejected CUB's

7 claim.  Importantly, after more than ten years of

8 investigation and litigation the ICC staff and even

9 the AG's office never proposed a similar

10 adjustment.  Indeed, staff and the AG never, ever

11 supported CUB's proposal.

12            Why?  While our briefs provide several

13 reasons, I want to highlight two points:  First,

14 nothing in the Public Utilities Act, the

15 Commission's rules of practice, or the facts in

16 this case support that adjustment.

17          In fact, if you look to the Commission's

18 rules, part 505, it allows the company to add

19 inventory and to use inventory.  Indeed, staff

20 witness Dr. Richard Zurawski agreed that the

21 Commission's rules allow utilities to use inventory

22 and replace that inventory either with higher-cost
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1 or lower-cost gas.  In short, there's nothing wrong

2 with that.

3            In addition, and equally problematic

4 with CUB's claim, is the admission of their own

5 witness.  Mr. Mareswad testified, and I quote,

6 that -- and I will quote:  That the Commission

7 should adopt this storage carrying charge

8 adjustment, quote, only if the Commission wants to

9 punish Nicor, close quote.

10            Now, there's simply no facts to support

11 such an action.  Indeed, if the company, and

12 Mr. Mareswad admitted, purchased gas at market

13 prices, there was no escalation in that cost.

14 Second, and this is equally important, the

15 Commission does not have the authority under the

16 Public Utilities Act or any other provision of the

17 law to award punitive damages, and that's exactly

18 what CUB is seeking here, to punish the company for

19 alleged actions.

20          Those actions never occurred.  There is no

21 reason, and the proposed order properly rejected

22 it, and so did the other parties in this case.
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1            Now, let me turn one sentence to the

2 refund methodology.  The proposed order got it

3 right.  Staff's proposal is reasonable.  And this

4 is equally important:  It is the only methodology

5 in the evidentiary record.

6          With that, I'm going to turn my time over

7 to Mr. Stahl.  Thank you.

8    MR. STAHL:  Thank you, John.

9          Good morning, Mr. Chairman, the

10 Commissioners.  Once again, Dave Stahl.  One thing

11 I know for sure is that we will not have 15 minutes

12 for rebuttal this morning.  I will try to be as

13 brief and as efficient as I can.

14            Mr. Rooney has already described some of

15 the important attributes of the benchmark in the

16 gas cost performance program.  The issue that I am

17 addressing, the 2001 withdrawals, relates to the

18 benchmark in this way:  The benchmark itself which

19 was what the -- the market price proxy that was

20 subject to being beaten or not, was dependent on

21 withdrawals in any given year because of the

22 equation.  It affected the storage credit
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1 adjustment which is generally, though not always, a

2 deduction from the market price of gas.

3            It's important to understand here that

4 the relationship between withdrawals and the

5 benchmark is generally that increased withdrawals

6 will reduce the benchmark but not always and that

7 it's also the case that an increase in the

8 benchmark is not always a bad thing for customers.

9 Both of those relationships depend not only on the

10 withdrawals and the effect on the benchmark but

11 what is the effect on the cost of gas.

12            Important to remember, that is something

13 that is not generally known until after the fact

14 unless you have perfect 20/20 foresight and an

15 uncanny ability to predict gas prices for the

16 forthcoming year or even longer.

17            So it's one thing to do an

18 after-the-fact analysis like Mr. Mareswad and

19 Mr. Effron did, but it's another thing in the real

20 world to try and understand the complicated

21 relationship between withdrawals, the benchmark,

22 and the cost of gas.
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1            Now, the theory upon which AG and CUB

2 proceed here is that in 2001 withdrawals were far

3 lower than they had been in any recent relevant

4 historical period.  These lower withdrawals led to

5 greater purchases, which because of the high price

6 of gas at the time resulted in very substantial

7 prices above those experienced historically for

8 Nicor customers.

9            The theory proceeds -- and this is an

10 important point -- that Nicor could not have

11 withdrawn more from gas in inventory in 2001 that

12 it did because of the low levels of inventory that

13 existed at year-end 2000.

14            Mr. Effron, for example, testified:  I

15 do not claim that the company necessarily would

16 have or even could have implemented the increased

17 levels of 2001 withdrawals reflected in my

18 calculations given the relatively low stored-gas

19 inventory at the end of 2000.

20          He further testified:  I am not arguing

21 that it would have been practical or even possible

22 to increase the 2001 withdrawals to the 1994-1998
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1 five-year average or to the 1998 level of

2 withdrawals, given the storage inventory at the end

3 of 2000.

4          So they can see this would not have been

5 practical, would not have been possible.  I'm going

6 to give you, aside from that, nine additional

7 reasons why you should reject this adjustment, the

8 first one being that the low inventory levels that

9 existed at year-end 2000 were not a problem unique

10 to Nicor.

11          The chart that I have up here directly to

12 my left, which I believe is page 7 in the deck,

13 shows that nationwide year-end 2000 -- this is not

14 just Nicor; this is nationwide -- inventory levels

15 at year-end were far lower than they had been in

16 any prior historical period.

17          In a contemporaneous report, the Energy

18 Information Administration noted the reasons for

19 these low levels of inventory.  Natural gas prices

20 rose dramatically in 2000, remained high through

21 much of the first half of 2001, giving utilities an

22 incentive to withdraw from inventory instead of
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1 making market purchases of gas.

2          Rising prices at the beginning of the

3 natural gas storage refill season in April 2000

4 resulted in unusually low level of natural gas in

5 storage at the start of the 2000 and 2001 winters.

6 The report goes on to talk about the frigid

7 temperatures towards the end of 2000, leading to a

8 rapid drawdown of storage levels.

9          This is why Nicor found itself in the

10 situation it was in at the end of the year 2000.

11          Reason No. 2, Mr. Rooney said the

12 benchmark existed for a purpose.  It existed to be

13 beaten.  There is absolutely wrong with any efforts

14 on the part of Nicor under this performance based

15 rate program to try and do what the Commission said

16 it had should do:  Beat the benchmark.

17          Further, the evidence does not support the

18 conclusion that Nicor did anything in either 2000

19 or in 2001 in order simply to beat the benchmark.

20 This is a very important point.

21            It did nothing and there is nothing in

22 the record, including some of the exhibits you're
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1 going to see today that have been marked by the AG,

2 that Nicor did anything in 2001 and knowing that by

3 doing so it was exposing its customers to higher

4 gas prices in 2001.  There was not either what we

5 call direct evidence of this, which are memos or

6 letters or correspondence, or indirect evidence of

7 this, sometimes called circumstantial evidence,

8 which will be an analysis of the relationship

9 between gas prices and withdrawals and the impact

10 on ratepayers.  None of that exists.

11          In fact, immediately after the record --

12 the evidentiary record closed in this case, the AG

13 filed its initial brief in which it said:  Nobody

14 is arguing that Nicor Gas knew at the outset of

15 2001 that the reduced storage cycle in that year

16 was going to harm customers to the tune of

17 $145 million.

18            That's page 35 of the AG's initial

19 brief.

20            The next reason that I would offer for

21 this -- why this theory ought to be rejected,

22 similar to the last reason, the investigative
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1 report prepared by the team lead by former U.S.

2 Attorney Scott Lazar -- he had a crew of attorneys

3 and skilled accountants and investigators who wrote

4 a report concluding that they did not find

5 evidence -- and again I'm quoting, did not find

6 evidence indicating that these low 2001 withdrawals

7 were because of improper attempts to manipulate the

8 storage cycle.

9            The next reason, Staff itself never

10 supported these claims.  That's important because

11 in the 1999 proceedings leading up to the approval

12 of the GCPP, Staff was the party that first

13 expressed concern about the possibility that this

14 benchmark might be manipulated somehow through the

15 withdrawal cycle, but when the theory was

16 presented, staff never signed on to it.  They have

17 never advocated on behalf of this adjustment.

18            Next reason -- this is a very important

19 reason:  In the order approving the GCPP, the

20 Commission stated expressly that when it reviewed

21 the GCPP under the statute that brings us all here

22 today, it would not adopt the prudence standard.
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1          This action that we're hearing about today

2 is not to be judged by a prudence standard.  The

3 only question was whether the benchmark was beaten,

4 not even how the benchmark would be beaten but was

5 it beaten.

6          In fact, again, in the order approving

7 this, the Commission refused to require Nicor to

8 show how it was going to beat the benchmark.  Since

9 the prudence standard was rejected at the outset,

10 it would be improper and unlawful to go back and

11 subject what Nicor did in 2001 or any other year to

12 the prudence standard.

13            Another point -- and again the evidence

14 is uncontradicted on this.  In fact, AG and CUB

15 agree that physical withdrawals from inventory of

16 the kind that we're talking about here in 2001 were

17 not necessary in order to influence the benchmark,

18 that this could have been done by accounting

19 techniques, something known as storage prefills.

20          Next reason, this program was a three-year

21 program but both AG and CUB focus on a slice of

22 this program, one year.  They look at that.  They
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1 ignore 2000.  They ignore 2002, although their

2 witnesses recognize that any change that had

3 occurred in 2001 from the pattern that really

4 existed in fact would have had spillover effects in

5 2000 and 2002.

6          Mr. Rooney made the next point, which is

7 if you look at the broad view of this, the

8 three-year performance under the GCPP, Nicor was

9 the low-cost provider of natural gas in Illinois.

10          It was also the only one with a

11 performance based rate program at the time, which

12 strongly shows that it was nothing to do with the

13 performance based rate program that influenced

14 Nicor's gas prices, that whatever prices it paid in

15 2001 they were still better than anybody else.

16          And, in fact, if you look at this chart,

17 again you will see that the difference between

18 Nicor and the highest producer -- highest-priced

19 producer in 2001 was even greater than it had been

20 in the two years preceding the gas cost performance

21 program, which means that Nicor did even better.

22    COMMISSIONER COLGAN:  Mr. Stahl, what chart were
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1 you just referring to?

2    MR. STAHL:  I think this is No. 2, Commissioner

3 Colgan.

4    COMMISSIONER COLGAN:  Okay.

5    COMMISSIONER McCABE:  Mr. Stahl --

6    MR. STAHL:  Yes.

7    COMMISSIONER McCABE:  -- in discussing the PBR

8 and alternative regulation, this case had a lot of

9 twists and turns and it spanned a number of years,

10 what are the company's takeaways or learning

11 experience you had with the GCPP?

12    MR. STAHL:  Well, I can't speak for the company.

13 Mr. Rooney may be in a better position to do that

14 than I.

15          But I certainly think it was fair to say,

16 a very expensive, frustrating, controversial,

17 contentious experiment, one not likely to be

18 repeated as long as I'm practicing law.  If

19 Mr. Rooney would like to expand on that, he's

20 probably better to do so.

21    MR. ROONEY:  Commission McCabe, what happened

22 was -- is that they didn't realize all of the
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1 machinations that went into the benchmark

2 calculation, and what happened was in 2000, if you

3 notice what I believe is slide 7, gas prices spiked

4 remarkably during that period of time, and that was

5 something that they weren't used to and the

6 benchmark wasn't premised on that to begin with.

7          So I would just echo what Mr. Stahl said:

8 It's an experiment not likely to be repeated.

9    MR. STAHL:  One last point here, this is the

10 tenth reason why you should reject AG and CUB's

11 positions, and that is there's no statutory basis

12 that allows the Commission to do what AG and CUB

13 are asking you to do.

14          Under Section 9244, which is, as I say,

15 what brings us here today, the Commission's role is

16 to take a look at the program, the implementation

17 of the program, and decide if changes need to be

18 modified or if the program needs to be changed or

19 modified.

20          Importantly, the purpose of the statutory

21 review -- and there's nothing in Section 9244 that

22 allows this -- not to determine whether retroactive
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1 changes ought to be made to the program or whether

2 Nicor should be second-guessed in any of the

3 decisions that it made during the period the

4 program was in effect or whether Nicor should be

5 required to make refunds for doing something that

6 the gas cost performance program expressly

7 encouraged it to do, which is beat the benchmark.

8    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Let me ask you one question,

9 Mr. Stahl, and I'm going to take you back to one of

10 your first reasons that -- in your argument you

11 made the allusion that there isn't any real way to

12 be able to forecast what's going to happen with

13 prices, but I mean, you do that every day as part

14 of the business plan, I would imagine, to forecast

15 what's going to happen with prices.

16          So aren't there some indices that you look

17 at or --

18    MR. STAHL:  Absolutely, no question.  Every year

19 our firm does a budget.  We try to estimate our

20 rent.  We try to estimate our utilities.

21          But natural gas prices historically have

22 been far more volatile and particularly in this
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1 period of time, in the late 1990s and the early

2 2000s.  They're relatively stable today.

3          That's not the same situation that we were

4 dealing with way back in the late 1990s, and it's

5 not just a question of forecasting natural gas

6 prices.  It's trying to make a determination about

7 how that forecast relates to how the benchmark is

8 going to be affected, how the storage credit

9 adjustment will be implemented.

10          There's a lot of moving parts to this is

11 what I'm saying.  It's not just looking at one

12 piece.  You can try to do that, but again, I think

13 even that piece by itself is a very difficult thing

14 to do, certainly back in the time period that we're

15 talking about here.

16    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Let me just ask you to your

17 last point too, but the -- you're saying that if we

18 had found -- if the -- and I realize what you're

19 saying about the evidence itself.

20          But had the evidence found that there was

21 indices of deliberate attempts to manipulate or

22 change the benchmark in the program, you're saying
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1 that the Commission wouldn't have any way of trying

2 to rectify that through 9244 or any other

3 mechanism?

4    MR. STAHL:  I would only very reluctantly ever

5 say the Commission has no authority to do anything.

6 I've been practicing before this Commission -- I

7 would hesitate to take on that role.

8          But what I will say is that, look, if

9 we're talking about deliberate efforts knowing that

10 ratepayers were going to be harmed by this, that

11 would be the situation that would likely be

12 different.

13          But it's important to to know hear that

14 Mr. Mareswad characterized all of this as simple,

15 garden, run-of-the-mill imprudence.

16          Mr. Effron wouldn't even say that he was

17 in a position to make a judgment about whether

18 Nicor was imprudent or not, so we're not even

19 talking about the situation about deliberate

20 manipulation, knowing that what's going to happen

21 is going to hurt customers.

22    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  I understand.  I was just



26

1 trying to get at the limits of how you were framing

2 the issue.

3    MR. STAHL:  It's a delicate point.  I will say

4 under the statute there's nothing in 9244 that

5 would permit the Commission to do that.  The

6 Commission's review is very narrow under 9244.

7    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Further?

8          You are correct that you did go over your

9 time.  When you hit the stop on the ten minutes, I

10 started with my watch and you used an additional 11

11 and a half minutes after that, so you will have

12 three and a half minutes left for rebuttal.

13    MR. STAHL:  Thank you.  We'll make the most of

14 it.

15    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Thank you.

16          Next we'll hear from Patrick Foster.

17 Mr. Foster is on the staff of the Illinois Commerce

18 Commission.

19          Mr. Foster, you'll have 20 minutes.  Would

20 you like to reserve any time for rebuttal?

21    MR. FOSTER:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  I'd like to

22 reserve ten minutes for rebuttal, please.
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1    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Very good.

2    MR. FOSTER:  Thank you.

3    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Thank you.  Go ahead when

4 you're ready.

5    MR. FOSTER:  Mr. Chairman, members of the

6 Commission, I am offering a presentation on the

7 appropriate methodology for allocating the refunds

8 that you will order in this case to flow to

9 customers of Nicor Gas.

10            In the absence of a perfect solution

11 that would refund to each customer the amount that

12 customer was overcharged, the best alternative is

13 simply to follow the Commission's rule.

14          I'd like to begin by pointing out that

15 there was a stipulation in the case between Nicor

16 Gas and the staff witnesses under which neither

17 side objects to the other's testimony.  Nicor Gas,

18 without admitting liability or fault, agrees to a

19 $64 million refund which is based on specified

20 staff adjustments, based on the testimony in the

21 record, and interest.

22          And the third point that is important for
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1 me to make right now is, and this is quoting from

2 the stipulation, staff is taking no position with

3 respect to any other issue in which any party

4 asserts that Nicor Gas comply with the refunds.

5          In terms of allocating the refunds, I'm

6 going to ask you to please consider the evidence in

7 the case, the positions of the respective parties,

8 and in particular I'd like to ask you to focus on

9 the fairness of the refund to a particular group of

10 customers, and that would be those who were Nicor

11 Gas customers buying their gas from Nicor during

12 the period 1999 through 2002 and who are still

13 Nicor Gas customers and are still paying Nicor Gas

14 for gas under Nicor's rider 6.

15            Overcharges occurred between 1999 and

16 2002.  During that period there were roughly 1.8

17 million customers in each of those years that were

18 buying gas from Nicor as distinguished from just

19 transportation services.

20          Now, both under the Retail Energy Supply

21 Association's case and under staff's methodology,

22 the then-and-now customers, the ones I'm asking you
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1 to focus on, would already not receive 100 percent

2 of the monies they were charged because there are

3 currently 1.9 million sales customers.  But the

4 RESA case gets much worse for that group of

5 customers who paid the overcharges and are still

6 sales customers.

7            As I understand it, the RESA proposal

8 would take the refund pool and split it on the

9 basis of rates, rate 1 the smallest customers and

10 so on.  I believe there are 12 rates.

11          Each rate would be assigned a percentage,

12 and each customer within each rate would receive an

13 equal piece of the refund irrespective of whether

14 they ever purchased a therm of gas from Nicor Gas,

15 irrespective of when they first took service from

16 Nicor Gas.

17          It would be nice, as I said, to be able to

18 track better who those customers were who paid in

19 '99 to 2002 and who are still there, but the

20 evidence in the case establishes that in April 2006

21 Nicor Gas implemented -- I'm quoting now from a

22 stipulation between RESA and Nicor Gas.
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1          Nicor Gas implemented a new customer

2 billing system.  Detailed billing data prior to

3 this date is not readily available.

4            So in essence what you're faced with

5 once you determine the amount of the refund is a

6 zero sum gain.  Any money that's given to

7 transportation customers, including those who never

8 bought a therm of gas from Nicor, will be taken

9 from sales customers and, again, focused

10 specifically within that larger group of sales

11 customers, those who were customers in '99 to 2002

12 and are still customers.

13            I'd ask you also to weigh the evidence

14 in the case.  The staff witness testified that the

15 Commission should follow its rule.  The staff

16 witness was subject to discovery and answered

17 discovery requests from parties, specifically

18 including the Retail Energy Supply Association.

19          And on cross-examination the staff witness

20 unremarkably testified to the fact that under

21 staff's methodology, the PGA refunds would go to

22 purchase gas adjustments costs, nothing more,
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1 nothing less.

2            Contrast that with the evidence that the

3 Retail Energy Supply Association put in the record,

4 which consists of a stipulation it entered into

5 with Nicor Gas that sets forth the numbers of

6 customers taking sales service and transportation

7 service in a number of different years, and these

8 two critical points:  On information and belief

9 some transportation customers as of the end of 2011

10 were sales customers during 1999 to 2002.

11            And on information and belief, some

12 customers who were transportation customers at the

13 end of 2011 were also transportation customers

14 during that earlier period, and then the sentence,

15 The exact number is not known.

16          So to summarize, you're making a choice on

17 refund methodology as between staff's evidence,

18 sworn subject to discovery and cross-examination;

19 Retail Electric Supply Association, a stipulation,

20 no cross-examination, no ability for parties to

21 test the actual meaning of their refund proposal,

22 which was finally fleshed out in a more
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1 understandable way with the last pleading they

2 filed in this case, the reply brief on exceptions.

3          The staff methodology is supported by the

4 Commission rule.  The RESA methodology has no basis

5 in the rule or the statute, appears to have been

6 used once and that was in a case that was the

7 subject of a settlement, as I'm sure you'll hear

8 about from Mr. Fox, having to do with Peoples and

9 North Shore.

10          Finally, I believe the evidence supports

11 the fact that staff's methodology is the fairest to

12 those then-and-now sales customers whereas the RESA

13 refund allocation methodology would take

14 transportation -- would take the zero sum amount

15 and give some of it to transportation customers

16 irrespective of whether they ever took service

17 from -- gas service, sales service from Nicor Gas.

18            So given the practical impossibility of

19 a perfect solution, my advice is to simply go with

20 the weight of the evidence and follow the

21 Commission's own rule.

22    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Let me ask you a question, if I
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1 could, Mr. Foster, so we're talking about the

2 difference between following part 525 or following

3 what the next gentleman will argue, and the

4 question becomes is there a third way?

5          Is there a different way to try to do this

6 within -- there seems to be some latitude in the

7 Commission rules to try to foster equitable

8 solutions.  Is there a different way to try to do

9 this other than two paths?

10    MR. FOSTER:  I don't believe this evidentiary

11 record really presents you with -- well, I'll argue

12 to you that it doesn't present you with any

13 alternative to ours, but it certainly doesn't

14 present any alternative I'm aware of other than the

15 recent methodology you were following under the

16 rule.

17    COMMISSIONER McCABE:  And, Mr. Foster, I think

18 you mentioned this, but I was curious why staff did

19 not seek a DR asking Nicor to perform a calculation

20 using --

21    MR. FOSTER:  I believe staff's position was

22 always that the Commission should follow its own



34

1 rule, and to the extent that any entity wanted to

2 vary from that, I guess it would -- my thought is

3 it would have been incumbent on that entity to seek

4 greater information.

5          I would point out that the requirements of

6 the Commission's rules, as I understand them, are

7 that billing information must be maintained for two

8 years, but with -- another reason possibly that

9 staff might not have pursued it is that the fact

10 that the billing methodology changed in 2006 and

11 the original data is not readily accessible.

12    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Anything further?  Thank you,

13 Mr. Foster.  You will have 11 minutes and 40

14 seconds left for rebuttal should you need it.

15 Thank you.

16          Next up is the Retail Energy Supply

17 Association and Interstate Gas Supply presented by

18 Gerard Fox.

19          Mr. Fox, you'll have 20 minutes.  Would

20 you like to reserve any time, sir?

21    MR. FOX:  Yes.  I'd like to reserve my remaining

22 time.  I estimate it should be about eight minutes.
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1    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Thank you.  Start when you're

2 ready.

3    MR. FOX:  By way of introduction, I'm

4 representing RESA, the Retail Energy Supply

5 Association, which is an association of retail

6 energy suppliers including alternative gas

7 suppliers in the Nicor Gas service territory.

8          I'm also representing Interstate Gas

9 Supply of Illinois, which is an alternative gas

10 supplier.  However, in this proceeding I'm really

11 representing the interest of the customers.

12          Neither Interstate Gas Supply nor RESA

13 members will receive any refund regardless of your

14 decision on the proper refund allocation method,

15 which is the only issue I'll be addressing today.

16          Before I turn to my remarks, if I can

17 respond to your question first, Chairman Scott, is

18 there any other method?

19          My suggestion would be that one thing you

20 could consider is in this -- in your orders in this

21 proceeding is determine first if a refund is

22 appropriate and the amount of refund, and then you
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1 could have a -- open the case up again if you, in

2 fact, decide that neither the method proposed by my

3 clients or by the Commission staff is appropriate.

4          With respect to Commissioner McCabe's

5 question, the data requests that would have went to

6 Nicor Gas would have been simply to -- could it

7 perform the calculation?  And I'll address that

8 later, but the calculation does not really depend

9 on who were sales customers in the 1999 to 2002

10 period nor who were transportation customers during

11 that time period.  It can't be done.

12          This proceeding covers the period

13 beginning January 1st, 1999 and extending to

14 December 31st, 2002.  January 1st, 1999, just to

15 put this into perspective, if you're a sports buff,

16 the Chicago Bulls had just a few months previously

17 won their sixth championship.

18          If you're a movie buff, the academy chose

19 for the best picture Shakespeare in Love over

20 Saving Private Ryan.

21          For music buffs, the top album in 1999 was

22 Baby One More Time by Britney Spears.  It sold 26
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1 million copies.

2          If you're a political buff, Jim Edgar was

3 still the governor on January 1st, 1999.  George

4 Ryan became governor on January 11th.  The chairman

5 of the Commerce Commission was Richard Mathias.

6          On a personal note, in 1999 my hair was

7 brown and I weighed about 20 pounds less, really

8 more about 30.

9          Why am I telling you this?  I'm making a

10 simple, obvious point:  1999 was a long time ago

11 and things change.

12          For a further perspective, the youngest

13 Nicor Gas sales customers today, the customers that

14 Mr. Foster talks about, would have been in

15 preschool in 1999.

16          Our position is equally simple.  We have

17 the utmost respect for the Commission staff and the

18 Commission rules, although sometimes those rules

19 just don't work.

20          Staff's proposed methodology, flow any

21 refund in this proceeding to the purchase gas

22 adjustment as contemplated by part 525, is fine in
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1 a typical reconciliation case.

2          For example, if today you are considering

3 a refund related to 2011 gas cost, part 525 would

4 work fine, but you're not.  And besides the fact

5 that 1999 was a long time ago, things have changed

6 since then, and one of the things that has changed

7 is that there has been a substantial shift in Nicor

8 Gas's customer base that makes a refund under part

9 525 inappropriate.

10          The evidence -- yes, contrary to what

11 you've heard, we do have evidence -- shows that

12 there were on average approximately 68,000

13 transportation customers in 1999.  Those are

14 customers purchasing their gas supply from

15 alternative gas suppliers like my clients and not

16 from Nicor Gas.

17          However, that same exhibit, RESA/IGS

18 Exhibit 1.0, shows that there were on average

19 approximately 263,000 transportation customers in

20 2010, the latest actual information in the record

21 in this case.

22            Under staff's proposed method, over a
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1 quarter of a million Nicor Gas transportation

2 customers would not receive any refund.  On the

3 other hard, the record shows that under staff's

4 proposal, the refunds would go to persons who

5 became sales customers of Nicor Gas for the first

6 time today so long as they are still sales

7 customers at the time of the refund.

8          Simply put, our position is that's not

9 fair.  So why did the ALJ rule against us?  First,

10 they said staff's method is the only method of

11 evidentiary support.  Second, staff's method is

12 most reasonable and just as equitable as ours.

13          First, let's look at the evidence

14 supporting staff's method.  Staff's direct, Staff

15 Exhibit 3.0, consists of 17 lines of testimony,

16 basically providing totals of staff's proposed

17 adjustments to be flowed through pursuant to part

18 525 and explaining how interest is calculated under

19 part 525.

20          The second piece staff evidence is staff's

21 rebuttal testimony, Staff Exhibit 6.0, which

22 consists of the same 17 lines of testimony with
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1 different numbers because staff's position

2 regarding proposed adjustments had changed.

3          Here I have to point out that staff's

4 proposed method of refund itself is no longer

5 calculated pursuant to part 525.  The interest as

6 computed as part of the $64 million refund amount

7 that's contained in the stipulation between staff

8 and Nicor Gas is not based on -- it's not

9 calculated in a manner in which you would calculate

10 interest pursuant to part 525.  It's a stated

11 amount, regardless of when the lawyers entered into

12 this proceeding.

13          Now let's look at our evidence.  Again, we

14 have RESA/IGS Exhibit 1.0 that shows almost 200,000

15 more transportation customers in 2010 than in 1999.

16 And we have the record of cross-examination of

17 staff witness, who admitted that staff's proposed

18 method would exclude a refund for transportation

19 customers, even if they were sales customers during

20 the period 1999 to 2002 and that she was not

21 claiming that under staff's method, the refund

22 would go to customers who paid for gas during that
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1 period.

2          For my part, I have to admit that the

3 refund method we are proposing was not submitted in

4 testimony; rather it was identified not in our

5 reply brief with exceptions but rather in our

6 initial brief as the method the Commission has

7 utilized in the another gas charge reconciliation

8 case.

9          Now, the staff in its reply to briefs on

10 exceptions took issue with our characterization of

11 the cross-examination and made a number of other

12 criticisms to our proposal.  While conceding that

13 its method was not perfect, staff stated, A perfect

14 matching of refund dollars to the customers who

15 were overcharged during the period of January 1st,

16 1999 through December 31st, 2002 would require

17 evidence that does not exist in the record of these

18 consolidated proceedings.

19          However, as Mr. Foster stated, the reason

20 this evidence is not in the record is that in April

21 2006 Nicor Gas did change its customer billing

22 system, and detailed information of customer
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1 accounts is not readily available for those dates.

2          Now, we agree that in a perfect world the

3 persons overcharged would be the persons getting a

4 refund.  Staff's method does not do that.  Now,

5 while I share the concern that it's true under

6 staffs method -- I'm sorry.

7          While under our method it's true that a

8 refund to a sales customer at the time of the

9 refund who was a sales customer during this period

10 of 1999 to 2002 would get somewhat less of a

11 refund, we don't know who those people are.

12          And on the other hand, under the staff's

13 method there are transportation customers -- the

14 amount is unknown because of the change in the

15 billing system.  But there are transportation

16 customers who were sales customers during 1999 to

17 2002.  They won't get a penny.  Now, that's

18 something that you have to weigh.

19            Now, according to staff, RESA embarked

20 on a program of distorting evidence.  First, staff

21 strenuously disputes RESA's position that there was

22 a substantial shift in sales customers to
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1 transportation service from 1999 to the present.

2          Look at the numbers again:  1999, 68,000

3 transportation customers; 2010, 263,000

4 transportation customers, roughly four times as

5 many.  I would say that's substantial.

6            Staff claims that our proposed refund

7 method was unclear.  Well, in the world of utility

8 rates, our proposed refund method is about as clear

9 and as simple as one could get.  The method was

10 obviously clear to North Shore Gas Company, which

11 used this method to allocate a refund adjustment in

12 Docket 01-0706.  However, to help -- and this may

13 be what Mr. Foster was referring to -- RESA set

14 forth a simple calculation in its reply to briefs

15 on exceptions.

16            Basically, the first step is that the

17 refund would be allocated to all rates based on

18 each rate's share of the total PGA gas consumed by

19 all rates during the calendar years 1999 to 2002.

20          For example, if the PGA gas consumed by

21 all Nicor gas rates during that period was 100 BCF

22 and if rate 1 consumed 50 BCF, then rate 1
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1 customers would get 50 percent of the refund, and

2 that's because 50 divided by 100 equals 50 percent.

3          Assuming the $64 million refund, the

4 amount in the stipulation, rate 1 customers would

5 get $32 million.  That's because 64 million times

6 50 percent equal $32 million.

7          The next step, each rate's allocation

8 would be divided by the total number of customer

9 accounts, both sales and transportation, receiving

10 service under that rate on the date the Commission

11 enters its order in this proceeding with refunds

12 provided to both sales and transportation accounts.

13          Continuing with my example from above, if

14 Nicor Gas had 2 million rate 1 customers on the

15 date of the Commission's order, each rate 1

16 customer will get $16 and that's because $32

17 million dollars divided by 2 million people equal

18 $16 a person.

19    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Can I ask about your

20 methodology?  Because I'm a little confused by that

21 in spite of the plea that it's simpler.

22          If rate describes each service
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1 classification under your proposal, then under this

2 method transportation customers wouldn't get a

3 share of the refund since the share of customers

4 served under transportation rates with the total

5 PGA gas consumed by all the rates during those

6 years was nothing so they wouldn't get anything

7 under that calculation, would they?

8    MR. FOX:  I think you got that from staff's

9 briefs.  That's not true.  Rate 1 is the

10 residential rate.  Rate 1 includes both sales

11 customers and transportation customers.

12          So transportation customers are served

13 under rate 1.  They're also served under a rider

14 when they're purchasing their commodity gas from an

15 alternative gas supplier.

16          But they are rate 1 customers so my

17 calculation would include them.

18    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  I'm sorry.  Go ahead.

19    MR. FOX:  In conclusion, can the Commission

20 order a refund using a method other than that set

21 forth in part 525.  Yes, you can.  In fact, more

22 importantly, we suggest you already did, the North
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1 Shore Case, which I just referred to, as well as

2 Peoples Gas & Light, which was basically a similar

3 method.  Basically they divided $100 million refund

4 between the two companies.

5          One last point here regarding the

6 similarity to this consolidated proceeding, which

7 is Docket -- starts with 01-0750 and the North

8 Shore and Peoples cases, which are 01-0706 and

9 01-0707 respectively, depending upon how you decide

10 the other issues today, this proceeding will result

11 either in the largest or second largest gas charge

12 reconciliation refund in the Commission's history.

13          Typically these cases result in no refund

14 or a very small refund.  However, the combined

15 Peoples Gas and North Shore refund was $1 million.

16 The amount set forth in the stipulation between

17 staff and Nicor Gas is $64 million and the ALJPO is

18 at $72.1 million.

19            Whatever the final outcome, the refund

20 in this case will be substantial and the proper

21 allocation is of great importance.  Thank you.

22    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  The '01 case that you
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1 referenced, that methodology and how that refund

2 was distributed was done based on a stipulated

3 agreement between the parties, wasn't it?

4    MR. FOX:  There was a settlement agreement

5 between Peoples Gas, Nicor Gas, the Attorney

6 General, and the Citizens Utility Board.

7    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  And the methodology for the

8 refund was included as part of that agreement?

9    MR. FOX:  Yes.  As a matter of fact, in the

10 Peoples case, it was somewhat different because

11 Peoples' share was $96 million.  And when you look

12 at the number of residential customers that were on

13 Peoples Gas's system at the time, it was probably

14 about 850,000 customers.

15          So somebody had the idea, Let's give each

16 of those residential customers, whether they were

17 sales or transportation, a crisp, new $100 bill,

18 and then after that the allocation was made from

19 there.

20          Now, I chose North Shore because it's,

21 again, a simpler methodology for dealing with this

22 as I think I demonstrated from my very, maybe too
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1 simplistic example.

2    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  But to me, it appears there's a

3 fairly major difference between the agreement for

4 that and then coming to us with the record that

5 we've got in this case -- or even by your own

6 estimation, you talk about the mechanism that would

7 exclude potentially 185,000 transportation

8 customers who could have been sales customers

9 during that period, and that's your own -- that's

10 your own documents that are saying that.

11          So I mean, would you agree that perhaps

12 neither choice is perfect in this case, not that it

13 ever is perfect, but --

14    MR. FOX:  Again, I agree with Mr. Foster.  In a

15 perfect world you would know who were the sales

16 customers during 1999 to 2002 and you would give

17 them all that share.

18          I mean, since that time some of those

19 customers have gone to transportation.  I don't

20 know how many.  Some have moved to other service

21 territories.  Some people have bought houses or

22 moved into apartments for the first time who were
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1 children at the time this whole thing began.  Some

2 people may have died.

3          So in a perfect world, yes, it should go

4 to them.  Now, I'm saying staff's method is not

5 perfect.  It excludes the people we represent who

6 were just as likely to have been sales customers

7 during the relevant times if you look at the

8 numbers.

9          If you look at our method -- which it's

10 true if you could identify those customers who were

11 sales customers then and sales customers now,

12 they're going to get a little bit less.

13          You know, my numbers are not that far off

14 in terms of how much each customer would receive,

15 so if under my method a customers gets, you know,

16 $15.75 instead of $16, I don't think that's that

17 much, but if under staff's method my customers get

18 nothing, I think that's a little bit of something

19 to think of.

20            In terms of the question you asked

21 earlier, certainly if you can -- and if you want to

22 take the time to think of a better method of doing
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1 it, you know, I think you can take the evidence

2 that's in the record and make your decision as how

3 the fairest way of doing this would be.

4    COMMISSIONER COLGAN:  Mr. Fox, you're saying

5 that the RESA methodology was given in your initial

6 testimony?

7    MR. FOX:  No.  Our position is that our evidence

8 shows that the staff's method doesn't work and that

9 the staff's evidence, again, consists of basically

10 17 lines in each of the direct and rebuttal

11 evidence.

12          Now, we did -- we basically maybe made a

13 mistake.  The Commission utilized this method in

14 the North Shore case and a similar method in

15 Peoples Gas case.

16          We think that based on the evidence that's

17 in the record and what you've done in other cases

18 that you can approve the RESA/IGS method, and in

19 terms of -- I don't think I responded to this

20 before, Chairman.

21           I think the fact that there was a

22 settlement agreement between the parties wouldn't
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1 give you authority to do something that you

2 couldn't have done on your own.

3            Now, I guess since this is Shakespeare

4 in Chicago Day, I'll close by saying to err is

5 human, to forgive is divine.

6          But again, I believe that you can on the

7 record and what you've done elsewhere approve our

8 method.  Thank you.

9    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Thank you very much.  You'll

10 have two and a half minutes remaining.  Thank you,

11 Mr. Fox.

12          Next we're going to hear from Julie

13 Soderna representing the Citizens Utility Board.

14          Ms. Soderna, you will have 20 minutes.

15 Would you like to reserve any time?

16    MS. SODERNA:  Yes.  I'd like to reserve any

17 remaining time that I have left.  Thank you.

18    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Thank you.  You may start

19 whenever you're ready.

20    MS. SODERNA:  Good morning, Chairman and

21 Commissioners.  My name is Julie Soderna and I

22 represent the Citizens Utility Board.
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1          We are here today because the Commission

2 approved Nicor Gas's gas cost performance program

3 or GCPP under false pretenses.  Nicor Gas claimed

4 the program would permit it to implement even

5 better innovative gas purchasing strategy.

6          As it turns out, Nicor designed the

7 program from the beginning to use it a profit tool,

8 plans Nicor Gas never revealed to the Commission.

9          Now, the facts that I'll be discussing

10 today may be sensational but no innuendo is

11 required to reach that conclusion.  The facts in

12 the record speak for themselves.

13            CUB urges you to take action in this

14 proceeding because Nicor Gas lied about the intent

15 of the program and repeatedly took actions to

16 benefit the company over its customers.

17          The proposed order and the company's

18 settlement with staff do not address significant

19 additional ratepayer harm that resulted from

20 Nicor's program.  The harm is significant.

21          The impact of Nicor's decision to reduce

22 its use of stored gas in 2000 alone was at least
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1 $127 million before interest, and the height of

2 ratepayer harm came when the cost of gas was at

3 record highs, leaving Nicor's most vulnerable

4 customers exposed to unprecedented price spikes.

5          Nicor's actions threatened the credibility

6 of the regulatory process and this Commission.

7 This is the Commission's first and only opportunity

8 to address these harms and it is this Commission's

9 responsibility and obligation to make ratepayers

10 whole.  No other body can enforce the Public

11 Utilities Act or address this ratepayer harm.

12            The Commission's review here is clear.

13 The key and only standard under which the

14 Commission must review the GCPP under Section

15 9-244(c) is whether the program was meeting its

16 objectives.

17          The very first objective as required by

18 the statute is that the program is likely to result

19 in rates lower than otherwise would have been in

20 effect under traditional regulation.  The

21 Commission's charge is not to review Nicor's rates

22 as they compare to other utilities in the state or
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1 in the country.  It is simply irrelevant how

2 Nicor's gas costs compared with other utilities.

3          With this standard in mind, I will now

4 review the history of the program.  The scheme was

5 created to capture the value of low-cost gas Nicor

6 had on its books for decades, and this gas is

7 referred to as LIFO, which is -- stands for last-in

8 and first-out accounting.  It's just low-cost gas

9 that sat on Nicor books for decades.

10          Gas utilities are supposed to use storage

11 assets to provide a benefit to customers by

12 injecting cheaper gas in the summer and withdrawing

13 that gas in the winter months when gas price are

14 typically much higher.  This practice insulates

15 ratepayers from winter price spikes.

16          Far from using storage to benefit

17 ratepayers, however, Nicor's primary concern was to

18 use those ratepayer assets for profit.

19            In the process Nicor Gas acted in total

20 disregard of its customers and the effects of its

21 decisions under the program.  Nicor knew that under

22 traditional regulation 100 percent of the value of
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1 this low-cost gas would go to ratepayers, so the

2 company got creative.

3          Unfortunately, the company forgot to share

4 its creativity with the Commission, even though

5 this scheme was hatched long before Nicor proposed

6 it.  This document that you'll be seeing is the

7 first exhibit, which is entitled the inventory

8 value team report.

9          Now, this document was drafted in

10 October 1998 and it described in detail the purpose

11 of this scheme.  As you can see, the report's

12 primary recommendation was to capture the LIFO

13 inventory value by filing and implementing a gas

14 rate performance plan related to gas costs.

15          Nicor filed for the GCPP the following

16 year in 1999 in Docket 99-0127, but not one word of

17 this was mentioned of this report in that

18 proceeding, nor were Nicor's plans to access LIFO

19 gas throughout that proceeding or in the instant

20 proceeding, despite CUB's unambiguous discovery

21 requests that sought precisely this type of

22 analysis.
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1          The company's scheme was only revealed

2 when   an anonymous whistleblower fact was sent to

3 CUB in 2002 after the record in this case was

4 already closed.  If it weren't for that

5 whistleblower fact, Nicor's lie of the intent and

6 aberration of the program would otherwise never

7 have been discovered.

8            The next exhibit is an internal company

9 memo showing how Nicor kept the scheme from the

10 Commission.  It's dated August 4, 2000 while the

11 GCPP was ongoing and discusses the earnings under

12 the program.  And it states:  We will need to be

13 careful to not highlight the LIFO benefit.

14          After CUB received the facts and requested

15 that discovery be reopened, thousands of documents

16 like this were turned over.  Those documents

17 revealed that capturing the value of the low-cost

18 LIFO gas was only the beginning.

19          The program opened the door for the

20 company to exploit the scheme in nearly every way

21 it could while flying under the Commission's radar.

22 In fact, the settlement itself shows how Nicor's
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1 exploitation of the program went well beyond

2 accessing its stores of low-cost LIFO gas.

3          Just a couple of examples from the

4 staff/Nicor settlement show this, one of which is

5 that Nicor improperly accounted for certain

6 transactions in order to produce false savings

7 under the benchmark, Nicor Gas engaged in an

8 improper transaction with an affiliate it then

9 tried to cover up, and Nicor Gas mislead the

10 Commission in oral argument regarding certain

11 pipeline contracts.

12          Now, if the Commission accepts the

13 adjustment in the Nicor/staff stipulation, it is

14 explicitly accepting the validity of the very same

15 legal and regulatory theories supporting CUB's and

16 AG's 2001 storage adjustment, the topic that I will

17 now address.

18            Now, under the program Nicor's gas costs

19 were determined by a formula, as you've heard.  One

20 component of the formula, as discussed by

21 Mr. Stahl, was the storage credit adjustment or

22 SCA.
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1          Now, the SCA changed based on how much gas

2 Nicor withdrew from storage in order to account for

3 the standard practice of injecting the lower cost

4 gas in the summer and then withdrawing that in the

5 winter.

6          It's extremely important to note that the

7 SCA was the only component of the formula over

8 which Nicor had any control.  Now, in Docket

9 No. 99-0127, Nicor reassured the Commission that it

10 would not and could not feasibly manipulate its

11 storage withdrawals to respond to the benchmark.

12            Basically the company was saying that it

13 couldn't monkey with storage and it couldn't

14 manipulate the benchmark, but this record

15 demonstrates the company did, in fact, control

16 timing and quantity of storage withdrawal and did

17 so to benefit itself under the benchmark and

18 Nicor's actions exposed customers to record-high

19 gas prices in the winter of 2001.  That is the

20 genesis of the 2001 storage adjustment.

21            The record shows that Nicor kept

22 extremely close track of how it was performing
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1 against the benchmark.  This is important because

2 Nicor could use this information to adjust its

3 withdrawals from storage to meet or beat the

4 benchmark.

5          The record demonstrates that Nicor

6 manipulated storage in four key ways, the

7 combination of which created the perfect storm.

8 First, in early 2001 Nicor made the decision to

9 severely reduce the amount of gas it planned to

10 withdraw from storage for the year.  This is

11 referred to as a storage cycle.  Nicor Gas cannot

12 and cannot and will not explain why its storage

13 cycle for the entire year of 2012 was less than

14 half the average storage withdrawals from the five

15 prior years.

16            Second, in November 2000 leading into

17 the winter season Nicor withdrew three times more

18 gas than was necessary to meet the increased demand

19 of that month.  Even though November was slightly

20 colder than normal, this does not explain the

21 dramatic increase in withdrawals for that month.

22          What does explain it is that by
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1 dramatically increasing withdrawals in November,

2 Nicor Gas gained an advantage under the benchmark.

3          Third, it was not the level of gas in

4 Nicor's storage fields, which is referred to as its

5 on-system storage, that was problematic.  Instead

6 it was Nicor's contract storage that was a fraction

7 of historic level.

8          Contract storage is just another component

9 of Nicor's storage resources and importantly, by

10 reducing contract storage in 2000, Nicor was able

11 to access additional LIFO gas that's beyond the

12 storage prefills recognized by the Lazar report and

13 referred to by Mr. Stahl.

14          This record shows undisputedly that Nicor

15 used physical assets to access an additional

16 7.5 BCF, which is billion cubic feet, of LIFO gas

17 in 2000 and it did this -- not coincidentally,

18 that's exactly the amount of contract storage that

19 was below historic levels, 17.5 BCF.

20          Now, the fourth way Nicor manipulated

21 storage, not only did Nicor fail to fill its

22 storage going into the 2000-2001 winter season and
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1 drain storage in November but it also gave large

2 amounts of storage to third parties in February and

3 March 2001, not to customers.

4            At the same time Nicor claims it didn't

5 have enough gas to withdraw from storage to serve

6 customers.  It, in fact, ensured that it had

7 significant stores of gas to serve to third

8 parties.  If Nicor had withdrawn that gas from

9 storage to serve ratepayers, the additional use of

10 storage would have reduced gas costs by

11 $11 million.

12          Now, to calculate the harm of Nicor's

13 storage manipulation activity, CUB's and the AG's

14 witnesses each performed separate but similar

15 calculations to recreate what would have been a

16 reasonable storage withdrawal scenario based on

17 Nicor's storage for the prior five years.  And

18 Mr. Mareswad's calculation totaled 128 million.

19          It's different from that number because he

20 took into account the additional gas that would

21 have been purchased had Nicor Gas filled its

22 storage program in the prior year, but it's a very
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1 critical point to note that because Nicor did not

2 realize the full extent of the damage its actions

3 would cause before the fact does not mean that its

4 actions did not cause the damage.

5            Next I'll move on to the storage

6 carrying charge adjustment.  The impact of Nicor's

7 scheme to access low-cost LIFO gas had

8 ramifications beyond ratepayers being denied the

9 full value of this low-cost gas.  By stripping the

10 low-cost LIFO gas from its books, Nicor had to

11 replace that gas with gas at market prices, which

12 was significantly higher than the cost of the LIFO

13 gas withdrawn.

14          Because Nicor includes the average cost of

15 its stored gas inventory in the base rate and earns

16 a return on that investment, the storage carrying

17 charges on the more expensive gas was significantly

18 higher.  Therefore, Nicor had also realized a

19 significant benefit from the additional base rate

20 revenues that it has collected and continues to

21 collect on the higher cost replacement gas in

22 storage.
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1            These increased costs went into rate

2 base in the company's 2004 rate case.  As a result,

3 ratepayers have paid an additional $6.8 million

4 per year in the carrying charges associated with

5 this more expensive gas since those rates went into

6 effect, and customers will continue to pay those

7 inflated rates until an adjustment is made.

8          In conclusion, the proposed order ignores

9 the fact that Nicor's actions increased ratepayers'

10 costs, not only because of storage manipulation to

11 get at LIFO gas and protect itself under the

12 benchmark but also because of the offsetting

13 adverse impact of the increased storage carrying

14 charges.

15          And I'll reserve the rest of my time

16 allotted.

17    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Let me ask you a couple of

18 questions.

19    MS. SODERNA:  Yes.

20    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  How does what Nicor did during

21 the time period we were talking about here relate

22 to the Commission's order approving the GCPP in
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1 terms of percentages that they --

2    MS. SODERNA:  Right.  Well, there's evidence in

3 the case that -- during the depositions of Nicor

4 employees, several employees -- or at least one

5 employee -- acknowledged that had the Commission

6 known about the company's intent to access LIFO

7 gas, the sharing percentages would probably have

8 changed.

9          I'm not speaking for the Commission but

10 that they didn't reveal the full intent of the plan

11 and that all parties, including our witness, would

12 have considered the evidence dramatically

13 differently if they had known about those plans.

14 That's the first point.

15           The second point is that the company to

16 reassure staff's concerns in that case pledged that

17 it could not and would not manipulate storage

18 withdrawals, and that's just what it did.  By

19 manipulating storage withdrawals, all I mean is

20 what the company actually acknowledged, that it

21 followed the SCA.  It followed the storage credit

22 rate -- the storage credit adjustment of the
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1 benchmark going on.

2    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  So what you're saying is that

3 Mr. Effron and Mr. Mareswad would say that they

4 followed what was in -- what were set by the

5 Commission's order but that the Commission's order

6 would have been different had folks known what was

7 really going on beyond the scenes?

8          Am I paraphrasing your argument correctly?

9    MS. SODERNA:  Yes.  I mean, the problem was in

10 January -- when they went into 2001, they started

11 out with a lower storage inventory than they should

12 have because they withdrew in November.

13          They withdrew too much in November to

14 benefit themselves in the benchmark because of the

15 weight of -- another component of the benchmark,

16 which is market index cost.

17          November was a month of rising prices so

18 under the formula, it benefited them to withdraw

19 more from storage in November so that's what they

20 did, but then they drained their storage resources.

21 Plus they didn't have enough contract storage

22 inventory because they were too busy accessing LIFO
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1 gas.

2          So then you go into January of 2001.  They

3 don't have enough storage to withdraw.  They

4 dramatically lower their storage withdrawal cycle

5 for the year without any consideration of how that

6 affects -- how that would affect customers.

7            And whether they knew the full impact of

8 the price spikes in January isn't the point.  They

9 put customers in a vulnerable position, and instead

10 of withdrawing more gas as they should have in

11 January, they followed exactly the SCA.

12          They could have deviated from that as they

13 had in November.  They deviated from the SCA in

14 November when it benefited them.  They didn't

15 deviate in January because it benefited them, and

16 that's what hurt customers.

17    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Just in terms of the kind of

18 the legal framework for what you're asking us to do

19 here, could you just explain that briefly to me.

20          Where are you finding the authority for

21 what you're asking us to do here?

22    MS. SODERNA:  Sure.  Well, a couple of things:
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1 First of all, under Nicor's theory, if the

2 Commission has -- if the Public Utilities Act only

3 allows prospective changes to the program and

4 that's all you can do, you can't accept the

5 settlement.  You have no authority to accept the

6 settlement.

7          So right there, Nicor is agreeing to

8 refund $64 million pursuant to very specific issues

9 in that stipulation, several of which I just

10 discussed.  So you have no authority to accept the

11 settlement under Nicor's theory.

12          I believe you have ample authority because

13 the Commission's second interim order in this case

14 explicitly stated that the Commission would

15 investigate and would assess any and all refunds

16 owing customers pursuant to the operation of the

17 program.  And that was an agreed second interim

18 order after the whistleblower facts came in and

19 discovery blew up.

20    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Thank you.  Anything further?

21          Okay.  Thank you, Ms. Soderna.  You'll

22 have five minutes.
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1          And next we'll hear from Janice Dale,

2 Office of the Attorney General.

3          Ms. Dale, you'll have 20 minutes.  Would

4 you like to reserve any time?

5    MS. DALE:  I'll reserve what's left.

6    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Very good.  Thank you.  You can

7 start when you're ready.

8    MS. DALE:  Good morning, Chairman and the

9 Commissioners.  My name is Janice Dale, and I'm

10 here on behalf of the People of the State of

11 Illinois, and I'll be discussing the issue of

12 proposed adjustments to 2001 storage withdrawals.

13          Expert testimony submitted on behalf of

14 the people explains why we are requesting that the

15 Commission direct refunds to compensate customers

16 for the cost of gas they paid in 2001 in excess of

17 what they would have paid under traditional

18 regulation.  At a minimum, we ask that the

19 Commission authorize a refund of at least

20 $64 million in addition to the settlement that

21 Nicor and staff have entered into for reasons I

22 will explain later in my comments today.
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1            Now, you are already familiar with the

2 basis of Nicor's particular alternative regulation

3 plan, the gas cost performance program, but I take

4 issue with Mr. Rooney's and Mr. Stahl's view of the

5 benchmark, very strong issue.  I think Mr. Rooney

6 said that the goal of the program was for the

7 company to beat the benchmark.  Mr. Stahl said that

8 the benchmark existed to be beaten.

9            Well, that is wrong.  The benchmark was

10 merely a tool.  The goal of this program and the

11 purpose of the performance based rates program,

12 according to Section 9244 of the Public Utilities

13 Act, is to achieve lower gas costs for ratepayers.

14            The method by which that was to be

15 achieved was by creating an incentive for Nicor to

16 get cheaper gas than it was already getting for

17 customers.  The tools that were to be used to

18 create the incentive were the benchmark formula,

19 which you see up on the screen here, and the 50/50

20 sharing of any differential between the price to be

21 and Nicor's actual cost of gas.

22            The benchmark was a tool only and it was



70

1 to be a proxy for the prudence review.  Nicor --

2    COMMISSIONER COLGAN:  Ms. Dale, can you tell me

3 what exhibit you're pointing to?  I can't see the

4 screen.

5    MS. DALE:  I'm sorry.  It's AG Exhibit 1.

6    COMMISSIONER COLGAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

7    MS. DALE:  So the benchmark was to be a proxy

8 for a prudence review.  It was to be a replication

9 of the marketplace and it was supposed to be

10 objective.

11          The benchmark was the reason that the

12 Commission had the confidence to approve the

13 program because it believed it would be objective

14 and that it could not be manipulated.  Nicor, of

15 course, told the Commission that it could not have

16 been manipulated.

17          And where the benchmark is a proxy for a

18 prudence review, the Commission is well within its

19 authority to determine whether or not that

20 benchmark achieved its purpose and the goals of

21 Section 9244.  The benchmark, in fact, was supposed

22 to improve the status quo for Nicor's customers.
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1 It wasn't supposed to improve their position with

2 respect to other utilities but with respect to what

3 Nicor customers would have paid under traditional

4 regulation.

5            Now, as you can see from this benchmark

6 cost of gas that I have listed up here, this is

7 similar to what Nicor had up on the screen before

8 but I did want you to take note of one particular

9 input, the storage credit adjustment.

10            The storage credit adjustment was

11 designed to reflect the value of storage and it's

12 typically subtracted from the market index cost of

13 gas and it puts downward pressure on the benchmark.

14          What went wrong for Nicor's customers is

15 the objectivity of the benchmark was tainted by

16 Nicor's own financial interests.

17          From the beginning, as Ms. Soderna

18 described, Nicor viewed the benchmark formula as a

19 way to capture the incentives of the performance

20 based rates program rather than as a way to achieve

21 the goal of the program.

22          The goal of the program was to lower rates
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1 for Nicor's customers.  Nicor took actions that

2 were likely to raise and did raise the cost of gas

3 for its customers over what those costs would have

4 been without a performance based rates program.

5          Nicor took these actions knowingly, even

6 while Illinois law required that such a program was

7 supposed to do the opposite and even while a

8 longstanding Commission rule, part 525-40, states

9 that gas utilities must refrain from entering into

10 any transaction that would raise the gas charge.

11          In short, Nicor took one of the tools of

12 the program, which is the benchmark, and instead

13 made it its goal.

14            Now, you can see from the formula that,

15 as I explained before, the SCA is subtracted from

16 the market index cost of gas to get the benchmark

17 cost of gas.  This storage credit adjustment

18 represents a correction to the market price that

19 reflects the fact that the true price of gas is not

20 the market price at the time gas is delivered but

21 instead the price at the time gas is injected.

22          Because the SCA reflected the value of
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1 delivered and stored gas, it was expected to reduce

2 the market price and create a lower price for Nicor

3 to be at, thereby putting pressure on Nicor to make

4 the efficient purposes it had talked about when the

5 company proposed the GCPP.

6          The other inputs, as we know, were out of

7 Nicor's control but the storage credit adjustment

8 could be influenced by Nicor because one of the

9 components of the SCA was Nicor's withdrawals.

10            So whatever Nicor could do to keep the

11 benchmark price high would help it, and by keeping

12 the SCA low, it would keep the benchmark price

13 high.

14          Unfortunately, this feature of Nicor's

15 GCPP  was doomed to hurt customers because Nicor is

16 fully capable of changing its withdrawals patterns

17 to beat the benchmark at any time, even if that

18 resulted in an increase in the cost of gas for

19 customers.

20          So while the Commission's goal was to have

21 the benchmark perform objectively, that goal was

22 threatened by this flaw, even though the company
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1 had maintained that it couldn't make those

2 manipulations.  And what happened, again, is that

3 Nicor made the benchmark a goal in itself, as I

4 think Mr. Stahl's and Mr. Rooney's comments show.

5          But the benchmark was never supposed to be

6 a goal in and of itself.  It was just the method

7 chosen to lower gas costs.  It was not a

8 procurement guide.  It was not a withdrawal

9 schedule, and it was not a management tool.

10            What we wound up with with this formula

11 and with Nicor's ability to manipulate it through

12 manipulating its withdrawals was like letting the

13 players -- one of the players in a game move the

14 goalpost in the middle of a game.

15          In summary, Nicor's ability to change the

16 benchmark cost of gas tainted the benchmark's

17 objectivity as a proxy for a prudence review

18 contrary to the Commission's goals and contrary to

19 the specific requirements of the act.

20          So what happened in 2001 then?  It was

21 kind of a perfect storm.  Nicor started out by

22 accessing the LIFO layers in 2000, as Ms. Soderna
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1 described, withdrawing a lot of gas from storage,

2 more than the weather justified.

3          That was good for Nicor because it got to

4 share in 50 percent of that value, but Nicor

5 withdrew so much gas in 2000 that by December 31st,

6 2000, it's gas inventory was low, not so depleted

7 that it couldn't serve its customers, but depleted

8 enough that it would have trouble maintaining

9 normal storage operations as 2001 began.

10          Nicor's January withdrawals were

11 significantly below January withdrawals in other

12 years.

13    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Can I ask you a question about

14 that?

15    MS. DALE:  Sure.

16    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  I'll ask you a question about

17 that because your witness said that the levels were

18 low but not unreasonably low.

19    MS. DALE:  That's right.

20    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  That was your witness that said

21 that.

22          So I mean, in terms of quantifying what's
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1 reasonable or not, I assume he's doing that based

2 on other --

3    MS. DALE:  Based on information Nicor gave us

4 about their January balances.  In fact, the

5 January 2000 balance -- 2001 balance, end-of-month

6 balance, was 54.5 -- I'm trying to remember the --

7 BCF.

8    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Those balances during the time

9 period of the program varied fairly substantially.

10 I mean, you've got anywhere between, you know, 13

11 and 30 percent variance from this balance of the

12 month that you're talking about here.

13          So I guess I'm trying to get a handle on

14 how do we know?  How do you identify with any kind

15 of certainty, you know, where the line is that gets

16 crossed and what becomes unreasonable?

17    MS. DALE:  Well, I can tell you that the

18 Commission, in putting together the benchmark,

19 looked at storage withdrawal patterns over a period

20 of years, from '94 to '98, so our witness looked at

21 what sort of storage balances the company had

22 during that period of time.
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1          And, in fact, the balance they had at the

2 end of January 2001 wasn't out of the ordinary.  It

3 was on the low side, but it was within the range of

4 inventories that existed between 1994 and 2002.  It

5 was 54.5.

6          In fact, the lowest during that period of

7 time was 52.8, and there were two other years,

8 January of '95 and January of 2002, when the

9 inventory was only a little bit higher, so it was

10 within the range of the previous seven years, so

11 lower -- but lower than average but not out of the

12 ordinary.  Okay?

13    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  But now -- as we got into a

14 little bit with the company here in their

15 presentation, now that also involves a lot of other

16 factors that you've got to start thinking about in

17 terms of what do you think the usage is going to

18 be, what the demand is going to be going forward.

19          I mean, if we are talking about replacing

20 that, you've got to think about other things other

21 that just that number, don't you?

22    MS. DALE:  Right, you do, but it was our
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1 witness's testimony that Nicor could have made

2 withdrawals sufficient to have saved ratepayers

3 money during that time without any problem.

4          There was sufficient balance in the

5 January inventory for them to do so.  I think it

6 was about -- our witness had said that if Nicor had

7 withdrawn about 25 BCF that they would have been

8 able to save their customers a significant amount

9 of money.

10    COMMISSIONER COLGAN:  Ms. Dale, do you think

11 that -- are we supposed to -- according to your

12 position, are we supposed to not consider the fact

13 that the national withdrawal figure is

14 substantially more for that time period than in

15 previous years, that -- but just to -- we should

16 just be looking at what Nicor did without

17 comparison to the national numbers?

18    MS. DALE:  Well, that's certainly not how this

19 program was set up.  It wasn't set up to beat other

20 utilities or beat another region.  It was set up to

21 make sure that Nicor would do better for its

22 customers than it would have without the program.
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1            So what effect did this have on

2 ratepayers?  Well, in the middle of winter when

3 normally Nicor would withdraw stored gas purchases

4 at low prices to serve its customers, it instead

5 went to the marketplace and paid for gas at market

6 rates.

7          Typically January was the month in which

8 Nicor was expected to withdraw the most gas, more

9 than any other month.  A full 28 percent of the

10 company's annual withdrawals of gas typically occur

11 in January.

12          And there was nothing magical about that

13 number.  That percentage was an average of Nicor's

14 withdrawals from 1994 to '98 that was used to

15 construct the storage credit rate.

16            Nicor knew, however, that the storage

17 credit adjustment was going to be high because

18 future prices told them so and a high SCA was going

19 to make it hard for them to beat the benchmark,

20 even more if withdrawals were at the normal level,

21 so that at the end of January 2001 Nicor looked at

22 its inventory, which was lower than average but not
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1 abnormally low, and looked at prices and it had a

2 choice:  It could resume its normal withdrawals of

3 gas which would benefit customers but risk Nicor

4 not beating the benchmark, or it could continue to

5 suppress its withdrawals of stored gas, buy gas in

6 the winter market.  That would increase the cost of

7 gas for customers but it would enable Nicor to beat

8 the benchmark cost of gas.

9            Of course, Nicor was supposed to try to

10 beat the benchmark price but not if it increased

11 the cost of gas for customers.  That was the goal

12 of the program.  The whole point of the program was

13 to make customers better off than they would have

14 been without the program.

15            These reduced withdrawals continued into

16 February and March, as you can see from the chart

17 on the screen, and in fact, Nicor suppressed its

18 withdrawals so much in February and March that by

19 the end of March its inventory balance was higher

20 than at the end of March in any of the previous

21 seven years, even though its December 31st

22 inventory balance was lower than it had been in
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1 December of the previous seven years.

2          Now, we expected Nicor to explain this

3 deviation from its usual withdrawal patterns during

4 the evidentiary hearing, especially since our

5 witness had described the impact of these decisions

6 on customers at some length in his rebuttal

7 testimony, but Nicor suddenly decided just moments

8 before cross-examination was to begin that they

9 would not rebut our witness's account of these

10 facts at all and they withdrew any testimony that

11 purported to explain why its February and March

12 withdrawals were so low.

13            Based on the market price of gas in

14 February and March of 2001 the company's

15 suppression of withdrawals in just those two months

16 increased the cost of gas to customers by

17 $64 million.

18            Nicor has no evidence to justify its

19 suppression of withdrawals in this time period

20 other than its attempt to beat the benchmark.  And

21 I think the Lazar report will agree with us on

22 that.
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1          So the additional $64 million of gas costs

2 incurred and imposed on customers in February and

3 March is what we believe the minimum refund to

4 customers should be over and above the settlement

5 that Nicor and staff have agreed to because that

6 represents extra costs that they paid for, extra

7 costs that Nicor cannot explain.

8    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Thank you, Ms Dale.  You end up

9 with four minutes left.

10          Now, we're going to go to the rebuttal.

11 I'll let everybody know what kind of time you've

12 got left.

13          Mr. Rooney and Mr. Stahl, you've got about

14 3 and a half minutes; Mr. Foster, the clear winner

15 with 11 minutes and 40 seconds; Mr. Fox, 2 and a

16 half minutes; Ms. Soderna, 5 minutes; and Ms. Dale,

17 4 minutes.

18          So Mr. Rooney, when you're ready, go

19 ahead.

20    MR. ROONEY:  We're going to split it up.  I'll

21 make my points --

22    MR. STAHL:  I'm willing to buy time too.
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1    MR. ROONEY:  The company made accounting

2 mistakes, no question about that.  They corrected

3 those mistakes.  Those mistakes were reviewed by an

4 agency like the SEC.

5          We've heard a lot of comments here today

6 about lies and fraud and whatnot.  Commissioners,

7 the company produced hundreds of thousands of

8 documents, made available more than a million

9 e-mails, made available hours of conversations

10 between company employees, made available 13

11 company witnesses from line accountants to the CEO

12 of the company for depositions.

13            The ALJ asked the question that you

14 should ask yourself:  Well, why didn't you call any

15 of these witnesses to support these claims?

16          Ms. Soderna refers to a deposition

17 transcript.  If you look at Exhibits 9 through 13

18 of Nicor Gas, we counter-designated.  The

19 deposition transcripts were always clear that

20 accessing the LIFO issue was not the intent of what

21 the PBR program was about.

22          And let me underscore this point:  When
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1 you're talking about fraud and deceit, the U.S.

2 Attorney's Office spent more than five years

3 investigating this program.  Now, they're schooled

4 in forensic review of issues.  Not once did they

5 find any Nicor Gas employee or Nicor Gas itself --

6 assert any criminal conduct against them and

7 instead what you're asked to rely upon here are two

8 witnesses who have no schooling in forensic

9 investigations and nothing of the sort related to

10 what transpired.

11          So I wanted to make sure that that was on

12 the record.  I'm going to turn things over now to

13 Mr. Stahl to address the other issues.

14    MR. STAHL:  Thank you, and I don't want to

15 discourage anybody from listening to me by putting

16 up a big chart of numbers here, but this is

17 important to address this illusory $64 million that

18 Ms. Dale talked about in her presentation.

19          There's a lot I could say about --

20    COMMISSIONER COLGAN:  Well, what chart is that?

21 It looks just like a big white --

22    MR. STAHL:  No. 11.
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1    COMMISSIONER COLGAN:  I got it.  Thank you.

2    MR. STAHL:  The theory here is that by the end

3 of January 2001 Nicor's inventories had supposedly

4 recovered.  They had been replenished, but despite

5 that fact Nicor continued to suppress its

6 withdrawals at the end of February and March

7 of 2001 in an effort to beat the benchmark and that

8 had an adverse effect on customers to the tune of

9 $64 million.

10          First of all, although Ms. Dale said

11 there's evidence of this, there is absolutely no

12 evidence in the record -- and I think I got this

13 down the way she said it -- that Nicor sat down at

14 the end of January, looked at the situation, and

15 made a choice to suppress withdrawals and increase

16 the benchmark while knowing that that was going to

17 increase customer prices.

18            There is not a single document or piece

19 of testimony in the record that comes close to

20 supporting that outrageous statement.

21            The other parts of this presentation are

22 also not correct.  The factual predicate,
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1 supposedly inventory had recovered by the end of

2 January, is also not true.

3          At no time did Mr. Effron testify, again,

4 as Ms. Dale said, that Nicor could have withdrawn

5 another 25.1 BCF of gas.  He never testified to

6 that.

7          What he said was -- is that if in February

8 and March Nicor had withdrawn 25.1 BCF, which is

9 the average February/March withdrawals in the 1994

10 and 1998 period, then the cost of gas would have

11 been reduced by $64 million.

12          But he never testified that Nicor could do

13 it.  He certainly never testified, as the AG says

14 in its brief, that Nicor could have safely and

15 prudently done it.  Mr. Effron wouldn't have a clue

16 what safe and prudent withdrawals are.  He's an

17 accountant.

18          He has never managed a single therm of gas

19 in his life.  He has no experience.  Even if he had

20 expressed an opinion on that subject, he would have

21 been unqualified to do that.

22    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  I need you to bring your
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1 remarks to a close, if you could.

2    MR. STAHL:  All right.  I will.  I want to get

3 to this chart.

4          $64 million is based on two months, again,

5 within a very short window.  You can take a look at

6 this chart.  This is Mr. Mareswad who prepared

7 this.  If you go down through the months of May

8 through October of 2001, you can pick any two

9 months during that May through October period and

10 you can compare the prices for gas that Nicor would

11 have paid had Nicor operated as the AG and CUB say

12 they should have, compare it to the price for gas

13 that Nicor did pay in those five months, and you

14 will see within any of those monthly pairs during

15 that six-month period Nicor would have paid between

16 $55 million and $70 million more for gas than it,

17 in fact, did buy.

18          These are all purely numerical exercises.

19 They're statistical anomalies all based on

20 after-the-fact comparisons.  You can reach any

21 conclusion you want, but these are not people who

22 were dealing with real-world conditions at the
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1 time.

2    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  All right.  Thank you,

3 Mr. Stahl.

4    MR. STAHL:  Thank you.

5    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Mr. Foster.

6    MR. FOSTER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I also

7 had brown hair in 1999, but my wife and I have not

8 moved since then or changed the way we buy natural

9 gas.

10          Mr. Fox began by pointing out that he's

11 here to represent the interest of the customers,

12 and my response to that is I think he's here to

13 represent the interests of 252,297 customers and he

14 is acting against the interest of 1.9 million-plus

15 customers.

16            He also said this might cost those 1.9

17 customers a quarter, the difference between $15.75

18 and $16, and I have to point out there is nothing

19 remotely resembling that number anywhere in the

20 record, nor has it been possible to make the

21 calculations that would be required to know whether

22 it's a quarter or $25 we're talking about.
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1          Mr. Fox pointed out that the staff

2 stipulation with Nicor would result in interest

3 calculations other than those driven by part 525.

4 I want take the opportunity to read a bit of

5 section 525.70:  If, after hearing, the Commission

6 finds that the utility has not shown all costs to

7 be prudently incurred or had made errors in its

8 reconciliation statement for such reconciliation

9 year, the difference determined by the Commission

10 shall be refunded or recovered, et cetera, along

11 with any interest or other carrying charge

12 authorized by the Commission.

13          I have read this language as suggesting

14 that in a case such as this, the Commission has the

15 authority under its own rules to define interest or

16 carrying charges.  Certainly there are default

17 provisions in the rule that go to the annual

18 interest calculation the Commission makes, but I

19 believe that the recommendation the staff is

20 looking for from the Commission is well within the

21 Commission's authority.

22          I would like to offer some background
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1 about differences between those two docket numbers

2 that are remarkably close together, 01-0706 and

3 01-0707 as distinguished from 01-0705.

4          All of those are reconciliations for

5 calendar year 2001.  Peoples Gas and North Shore

6 purchased gas during that period in ways that led

7 the Office of the Attorney General and the City of

8 Chicago to sue the Peoples companies in the Circuit

9 Court of Cook County and it lead the Commission to

10 consider evidence of large overcharges.

11          Before the Commission ruled in that

12 matter, a number of parties agreed on a number of

13 things, including the settlement of the Circuit

14 Court lawsuits.  There were over $1 million to flow

15 to customers, some of them in ways driven solely by

16 the litigation in the Circuit Court that had

17 nothing to do with the Commission.

18          But all parties agreed there would be $100

19 million refund to flow to the customers of Peoples

20 and North Shore, with the exception of the

21 Commission staff and the Cook County State's

22 Attorney Office.  But the litigants in the Circuit
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1 Court and ultimately CUB all agreed that there

2 would be a refund in the Commission cases in the

3 amount of $100 million.

4          The first settlement document put before

5 the Commission recommended a refund methodology

6 that's very similar to what Mr. Fox wants in that

7 it's a so-called per capita refund, but that

8 doesn't exist anywhere in the Public Utilities Act

9 or in the Commission's rules.

10          The second agreement basically amounted to

11 parties agreeing that the $100 million refund shall

12 be paid by any method that is acceptable to the

13 ICC.  So the Commission in that proceeding had the

14 chief legal officer of the state, the City of

15 Chicago representing all of Peoples Gas's

16 customers, and ultimately CUB telling the

17 Commission, You can do this any way you want.

18          I think there was a discussion between

19 you, Mr. Chairman, and Mr. Fox and the question

20 sort of came up whether a settlement would confer

21 legal authority.

22          There's a piece of the old BPI1 case --
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1 there's a lot of case law concerning when the

2 Commission is free to completely accept a

3 settlement or when the settlement must be based on

4 the record.

5          The first prong of BPI1 that isn't really

6 thought about that much is essentially that if all

7 of the parties settle the matter and the Commission

8 enters an order based on that settlement that there

9 is no problem.  I've always kind of thought that

10 was because if anybody agreed, then nobody's going

11 to appeal it.

12            In the Peoples and North Shore cases,

13 there was one party that did not agree.  That was

14 the Cook County State's Attorney's Office.

15          My understanding from a reading of the

16 record is that there -- the disagreement with the

17 settlement and the Commission's order was not based

18 on the refund allocation methodology and they did

19 not appeal.  So I'm hopeful that those distinctions

20 between the Peoples case and this matter will help

21 you as you make your determinations.

22            Mr. Fox mentioned that at one point
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1 staff disagreed with a statement in their brief

2 where they said that potentially 185,000 customers

3 had moved from -- as I recall what the brief said,

4 potentially 185,000 customers had moved from sales

5 service to transportation service.

6          And yes, we did strenuously object to

7 that, because the fact is the only evidence in the

8 record is that some customers, not a substantial

9 number, certainly not 185,000.

10          We don't dispute the numbers.  They've

11 been in Nicor's annual reports.  We verified them.

12 Those are the numbers that they have reported in

13 terms of sales customers and transportation

14 customers.  But there was no evidence to suggest

15 what I recall RESA having argued, which is that

16 potentially 185,000 customers would be harmed

17 because they were sales customers who are now not

18 going to receive a refund.

19          And then -- I'm sorry, just consulting my

20 notes here.  There was a discussion also,

21 Mr. Chairman, I believe between you and Mr. Fox

22 concerning something that staff had said in one of
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1 the briefs about whether transportation, small

2 users would -- and yes, that was in our brief.

3          What I would suggest to you is that if

4 enough information had been in the record at that

5 time, staff would not have made that argument.

6            Finally, with the last pleading in this

7 case and with the discussion today, it is easier to

8 understand what RESA had been requesting in terms

9 of a refund and staff would never have said, I

10 would submit to you, what it did in its brief about

11 failing to understand if it knew then what it does

12 now.

13          I still believe it's the wrong

14 methodology, but at least I finally have more

15 understanding than I did.  I will emphasize to you

16 that the Citizens Utility Board that does represent

17 customers and Nicor, who would have to administer

18 this, both oppose Mr. Fox's methodology.

19          One last distinction, North Shore and

20 Peoples were the proponents in 01-0706 and 01-0707,

21 and so I think they understood it.

22            I will take any questions you have and
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1 other than that, I have nothing further for you.

2    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Anything?  Thank you,

3 Mr. Foster.

4    MR. FOSTER:  Thank you.

5    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Mr. Fox, you have two and a

6 half minutes.

7    MR. FOX:  Yes.  Thank you.  Since Mr. Foster

8 began on a personal note, I unfortunately have to

9 begin on one, in which I state that I was a Nicor

10 Gas sales customer during 1999 through 2002.  I'm

11 no longer one, but my wife -- my ex-wife will get

12 the refund.  I find that personally offensive.

13            With respect to, yes, the 252,000

14 customers I'm representing, yes, I mean, part of

15 what we said was -- and I have to admit maybe a bit

16 of surprise and maybe I'm too optimistic, but when

17 we pointed out that, hey, there's in excess 250,000

18 customers here that won't get anything, we really

19 expected a response from the parties other than no,

20 you can't have this money.  That's our money.

21          We really thought that we pointed out a

22 problem with the staff's method and I'm frankly
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1 surprised at just how controversial this issue has

2 become.

3          Now, It's true if I read from part 525

4 as well -- and I'm reading from part -- Section

5 525.60 which describes charges, it's an amount

6 representing additional over and under recovery for

7 reconciliation year ordered by the Commission to be

8 refunded or collected, including interest charged

9 at the rate established by the Commission under 83

10 Ill. Adm. Code 280.70(e)(1) from the end of the

11 reconciliation year to the order date in the

12 reconciliation proceeding.

13            Yes, I agree with Mr. Foster there is

14 a -- there is a provision under 525.70, which was

15 never addressed in this case, that the staff

16 witness did not in her testimony follow Section

17 525.6.

18          With respect to Peoples Gas and North

19 Shore, I think at the end -- I agree with

20 Mr. Foster that the critical thing was that -- I

21 think that's the distinction with this case that

22 just doesn't hold water.
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1          Now with respect to -- my recollection is

2 different.  With respect to the proposed settlement

3 method, my understanding in particular with respect

4 to Peoples Gas which resulted in each residential

5 customer getting that $100 -- crisp, new $100 bill

6 I talked about before, that did not come from

7 Peoples Gas and North Shore.

8          I believe that was the idea of the

9 Attorney General and the Citizens Utility Board.

10          And finally, yes, I agree with Mr. Foster.

11 If we had the implication that we know that there's

12 185,000 customers who were sales customers and they

13 switched to becoming transportation customers, if I

14 gave that impression, I apologize.  We don't know,

15 and that's the point here.

16          But common sense tells me that when

17 there's, you know, 185,000 customers more on

18 transportation today than then that some of those

19 are sales customers.  And if you can fashion a

20 belief better than staff method, better than the

21 RESA/IGS method, I would ask that you do so.

22          Thank you.
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1    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Thank you, Mr. Fox.

2          Ms. Soderna, you have five minutes.

3    MS. SODERNA:  Mr. Rooney made a comment that he

4 acknowledged that we made accounting mistakes.

5          I think from my comments and from the

6 records you can see that what we're talking about

7 cannot reasonably be described as accounting

8 mistakes.

9          The issues in the settlement, issues the

10 company has agreed to refund customers for, consist

11 of the several issues that I discussed earlier:

12 Misleading the Commission in oral argument

13 regarding certain pipeline contracts, engaging in

14 improper transactions with an affiliate that it

15 tried to cover up.

16          These are not accounting mistakes.  The

17 company engaged in -- repeatedly engaged in

18 activity under this program to benefit itself with

19 total disregard for customers.

20          Now, and also we're not talking about

21 criminal activity.  We never mentioned criminal

22 activity.  That's not your job to find criminal
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1 activity.  The DOJ and SEC, they did their jobs.

2 Now it's time for you to do your job and find out

3 Nicor's actions under this program affected

4 customers and what that damage was.

5    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Let me ask, I mean, because I

6 wasn't going to until you just brought it up and

7 made that distinction, if they had found in -- if

8 folks had found what you're suggesting and the way

9 that you're suggesting that it happened, how is

10 that not criminal activity?

11          I mean, you're right; that's not for us to

12 decide --

13    MS. SODERNA:  Right.

14    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  -- but it is an interesting

15 distinction that the two different sets of parties

16 brought up.

17    MS. SODERNA:  Right.  I have no idea what those

18 entities actually looked at, what evidence they had

19 in front of them.  I don't know.  I don't know what

20 went into their evaluation.

21          I mean, I agree with you it sure sounds

22 like it to me, but about again, that's not our job
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1 as CUB and it's not your job as the Commission to

2 decide whether or not that was fraud or illegal --

3 you know, criminal activity.

4            What you're to decide is how those

5 actions -- how Nicor's actions under the program

6 affected ratepayers, and the calculations made by

7 Mr. Mareswad and Mr. Effron are essentially damages

8 calculations.  Right?

9          They're not saying Nicor could have and

10 should have followed exactly the type of withdrawal

11 pattern that they're suggesting that -- you know,

12 to develop that calculation.

13          What they're saying is what Nicor did was

14 unreasonable given the facts that Nicor knew at the

15 time.  We are not asking the Commission to do a

16 hindsight review here.

17          Looking at the circumstances at the time

18 Nicor acted unreasonably, imprudently, whatever you

19 want to call it, whether you call it a prudence

20 review or something else.  Nicor acted improperly

21 under the program and the evidence shows this

22 clearly.
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1    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  What should we be calling it?

2 What should we be looking at terms of --

3    MS. SODERNA:  I mean, it's certainly imprudent.

4 It's certainly improper.  It's certainly

5 inappropriate.  It's a lot of things.

6          You know, the question before the

7 Commission is whether the program operated as to

8 its intent, the chief intent of which was supposed

9 to lower gas cost for ratepayers as to what -- as

10 compared to what they would have been under the

11 traditional regulation.

12          It certainty didn't do that.  Had Nicor

13 performed the same actions under traditional

14 regulation, 100 percent of that LIFO value would

15 have gone to customers.  They wouldn't have had the

16 incentive that they did under the GCPP, under the

17 benchmark, to manipulate their storage withdrawals

18 to capture a value through the benchmark.

19            They wouldn't have those incentives

20 absent the formula, so you have to look at it from

21 how did the company perform under this formula?

22 Did they perform in a way to benefit customers?
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1          And the answer to that is clearly no,

2 given the evidence.

3    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  So is it more of a -- is a more

4 of a -- again, I'm putting it in a term issue.

5          Is it more of a strict liability standard

6 if you look at it and say, Had they made other

7 choices, it would have -- regardless of motives, if

8 they made other choices, they would have performed

9 better on behalf of the customers; therefore, there

10 should be a refund?

11    MS. SODERNA:  I don't think we need to talk

12 about strict liability.  I think if you look at

13 what the Commission said in docket No. 99-0127,

14 essentially the benchmark was supposed to supplant

15 a prudence review, so akin to a prudence review.

16          Whether you want to -- you know, were

17 Nicor's actions imprudent?  You sure bet they were,

18 according to CUB.

19          But whether you have to call that

20 imprudence to make the conclusion that we're asking

21 you to make, it doesn't matter.  The company acted

22 inappropriately under the program and in a way that
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1 disadvantaged ratepayers.

2            And also another point is the

3 settlement -- you know, they referred to the Lazar

4 report.  You know, the Lazar report had this team

5 of people scouring through the papers and looking

6 at everything and decided -- you know, made its

7 determination.  Well, the settlement itself goes

8 well beyond what the Lazar report found.

9          So they've already agreed to give refunds

10 well beyond the Lazar -- what the Lazar report

11 found were accounting errors.  So they already

12 explicitly acknowledged the fact that their actions

13 went well beyond accounting errors.

14          What we are asking the Commission to do is

15 look at the GCPP in light of the factors known at

16 the time to Nicor and that these actions were

17 directly counter to how Nicor claimed it would

18 operate under the GCPP and had significant negative

19 ratepayer harm as a result.

20    ACTING COMMISSIONER MAYE:  Actually I just have

21 one question, if I might.

22    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Sure.  Go ahead.
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1    ACTING COMMISSIONER MAYE:  Counselor, I just

2 have a curiosity here.  I know you've spoken along

3 the lines in your argument and in your rebuttal

4 about the disadvantage of the ratepayers, which is

5 obviously clear.

6          However, with your -- CUB's recommending

7 adjustment of -- what I'm looking at, for example,

8 for the 2001 storage manipulation of the $128

9 million adjustment --

10    MS. SODERNA:  Right.

11    ACTING COMMISSIONER MAYE:  -- is it your stance

12 that ratepayers would not be affected if this type

13 of adjustment was put into place and was

14 recommended and ordered by the Commission in any

15 way?

16    MS. SODERNA:  That ratepayers would not be

17 affected?

18    ACTING COMMISSIONER MAYE:  That they would be

19 affected by such a large adjustment on behalf of

20 the company.

21    MS. SODERNA:  You mean if the Commission were to

22 order the additional refunds?
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1    ACTING COMMISSIONER MAYE:  Yes.

2    MS. SODERNA:  Yeah.  Do I know the per customer

3 impact of that?

4    ACTING COMMISSIONER MAYE:  Yes.

5    MS. SODERNA:  I don't, although in our brief I

6 did do a general calculation.  Based on the number

7 of the Nicor customers, which is I think 2.2

8 million customers, the average refund of the 64

9 million that the company agreed to was about $33, I

10 think.  That was the 64 million.

11          I don't know the impact of CUB's entire

12 adjustment, but that is as compared to the $100 per

13 customer that Peoples Gas customers received in the

14 gas settlement as we heard about earlier.

15    ACTING COMMISSIONER MAYE:  Thank you for your

16 response.

17    MS. SODERNA:  Thank you.

18    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Thank you.

19          Ms. Dale, you have four minutes.

20    MS. DALE:  Thank you.  First of all, to address

21 Mr. Rooney's comment regarding the SEC's failure to

22 find any criminal fraud, I'll just reiterate what
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1 Ms. Soderna said:  It's not relevant.  The SEC is

2 in charge with protecting ratepayers.  They are in

3 charge of protecting shareholders.

4          The Illinois Commerce Commission is

5 charged with protecting ratepayers.  Only the

6 Illinois Commerce Commission has the authority to

7 enforce the Public Utilities Act and to make

8 customers whole for any damage the Commission

9 determines they have endured because of Nicor's

10 operations under the GCPP.

11          Mr. Stahl stated that with respect to the

12 $64 million, that Mr. Effron, the AG's witness,

13 wasn't an operations person and he's just an

14 accountant and he doesn't know anything about how

15 gas companies work, well, if Nicor had some

16 operational issues that they felt were the reason

17 behind their greatly suppressed withdrawal cycle in

18 2001, they should have produced that witness.  They

19 should have produced that witness to rebut

20 Mr. Effron's analysis.

21            But they didn't.  They had a witness.

22 They withdrew the witness.
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1            Finally, I would like to refer back to

2 comments that both Mr. Stahl and Mr. Rooney made to

3 suggest that it's ridiculous to conclude that Nicor

4 knew what the impact of its decisions was going to

5 be on customers and it went ahead and did it

6 anyhow, and they -- I believe Mr. Stahl cited the

7 Attorney General's brief in which it states that we

8 aren't saying here that Nicor knew exactly that

9 customers were going to suffer to the tune of

10 $180 million or $64 million.

11          The point is that Nicor was indifferent to

12 the outcome.  It's not that they knew exactly what

13 was going to happen.  Nobody can know exactly

14 what's going to happen over the course of the year,

15 but they were indifferent.

16          To that end, this whole program was about

17 the benchmark formula.  It wasn't about the goals

18 and the law.  It wasn't the goals that the

19 Commission stated.  It was about the benchmark

20 formula.

21          And finally, I would refer the Commission

22 to AG oral argument Exhibit No. 5.  This is -- this
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1 was stipulated Exhibit No. 32 in the record, and I

2 know the print is really tiny.

3          But if you refer back to it, you will see

4 that this is communication among Nicor employees

5 that took place in 2001, in, I believe, the early

6 part of '01, and in it the company employees

7 discuss Nicor's advantage to keep the percentage of

8 injections and withdrawals by month in relation to

9 the total year as close as possible to the

10 percentages set by the PBR.  This way Nicor will

11 not lose on the storage credit adjustment.

12          Now, remember that I mentioned before that

13 the storage credit adjustment and the formula were

14 not management tools.  They were not procurement

15 guides.  They were only set up to create a price to

16 beat.

17            Nicor has tried to make the benchmark

18 the hallmark of this program, but it was only a

19 tool and it was a tool meant to be objective and to

20 duplicate the market price and to act as a proxy of

21 prudence.

22          You could read this, I suppose, and say,
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1 Well, you can't come to any conclusions about what

2 Nicor was thinking with respect to 2001.

3          But in fact, they did withdraw and they

4 did reduce their storage cycle dramatically in

5 2001, and specifically in February and March they

6 were anywhere between 47 and 67 percent less in

7 terms of withdrawals than in the previous seven

8 years.

9          You can say that that's just a coincidence

10 or you can look at it in the context of all the

11 evidence that Ms. Soderna supplied and all the

12 evidence that the Attorney General presented, the

13 evidence that was discussed in the Lazar report,

14 the evidence supporting the settlement, and you can

15 decide which story makes more sense.

16    CHAIRMAN SCOTT:  Thank you, Ms. Dale.

17          That will conclude today's oral argument.

18 On behalf of the Commission I want to thank the

19 parties for their presentations today.  I know a

20 lot of time goes into preparing those.

21          This argument may be marked as heard and

22 taken.  This meeting stands adjourned.
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